IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 27 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-000293

The Greens of Rock Hill, LLC and GRH 2011, LLC, ..... Petitioners,

v.

Rizon Commercial Contracting, Inc. and Road Machinery  
and Supplies Co., ..... Defendants.

Of whom Rizon Commercial Contracting, Inc. is the ..... Respondent.

**AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

Herbert W. Hamilton  
Hamilton Martens Ballou & Carroll  
Post Office Box 10940  
Rock Hill, SC 29731  
803-329-7661  
Attorneys for Petitioner

Daniel D. D'Agostino  
23 W. Liberty Street

### **Questions Presented**

1. Did the Court of Appeals usurp the authority of the Legislature by judicially expanding the scope of the Mechanic's Lien Act?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that Rizon is entitled to a mechanic's lien as a "person who performs a component of the work involved in the development and construction project"?

### **Statement of the Case**

The Petitioners, the Greens of Rock Hill, LLC and GRH 2011, LLC (hereinafter "Owners") are the owners and developers of a mixed use real estate development in Rock Hill, S.C. The Owner contracted with Celriver Services, Inc. (hereinafter "Celriver") for the demolition and removal of a large chemical plant on the property. (R. p. 191)

As a result of the demolition of the chemical plant, a large amount of scrap concrete was produced. Celriver contracted with Rizon Commercial Contracting, Inc. to crush the scrap concrete. (R. p. 191). The concrete was crushed to certain specifications so it could be used, if needed, as additive to road base on the Riverwalk project or other projects as Celriver might direct. (R. p. 192)

The scrap concrete was delivered to Rizon at the crushing site by Celriver. (R. p.192) Rizon crushed the material and the crushed concrete was removed from the crushing site by Celriver. (R. p. 192)

A dispute regarding the volume of concrete crushed and payment therefore arose between Celriver and Rizon. On March 30, 2012, Rizon filed a mechanic's lien on the entire development. (R. p. 121) As authorized by the case of Sea Pines Co. v. Kiawah

Island Co., 268 S.C. 153, 232 SE2d 501 (1977), the Owner filed a petition and motion to dismiss the mechanic's lien. (R. p.16)

A hearing was held before the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, Master in Equity (?? Circuit Judge) on June 21, 2012. At Rizon's request, the hearing was continued to allow Rizon to present affidavits. (R. p. 146)

A second hearing was held before Judge Kimball on September 20, 2012 (R. p. 149). Following the second hearing, Judge Kimball issued an Order dismissing Rizon's mechanic's lien. (R. p. 1) This appeal followed.

On December 3, 2014, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal of the Rizon Mechanic's Lien. The decision was 2 to 1 with Judge Thomas dissenting.

### Argument

#### **Question 1. Did the Court of Appeals usurp the authority of the Legislature by judicially expanding the scope of the Mechanic's Lien Act?**

The Mechanics Lien Statute in the general form in which we find it today was first passed in 1916. Lowndes Hill Realty v. Greenville Concrete Co., 229 S.C. 619 93 SE2d 855 (1956). The Statute has been amended many times to expand the services for which a mechanics lien can be filed. (See S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-21 – Surveyors; S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-22 - Rental value of equipment).

However, this Court has consistently applied the concept that expansion of coverage of the Mechanic's Lien Statute is for the Legislature. In Johnson v. Barnhill, the Court refused to allow a mechanic's lien for surveying work because there was no specific reference to surveying work, and the surveying work was not "work of making such real estate suitable as a site..." Johnson v. Barnhill, 279 S.C. 242, 306 SE2d 216 (S.C.1983). (See also Hardin Construction Group. V. Carlisle Construction Co. 300 S.C.

456, 388 SE2d 794 (S.C., 1990 – Subcontractor not allowed to claim mechanic’s lien for rental equipment when lessor does not provide operator – modified by Act No. 374, §1 1990 S.C. Code §29-5-22).

The Court refused to extend the Statute to cover surveyor’s services even though the Legislature had passed an amendment to the Statute giving surveyors the right to a mechanic’s lien. Since the work was done before the amendment, the amendment was not applicable. But the amendment clearly stated the Legislature’s intent. Yet the Court refrained from judicially expanding the scope of the Statute.

In every case in which the Statute has been expanded, the expansion has been accomplished by the Legislature. This Court has consistently refused to expand a statute’s scope even in situations where the Court believed the wording of the statute was contrary to legislative intent.

We are thus constrained to hold that, as defined by §16-25-10, Leopard’s stepdaughter is within the statutorily defined class designed to be protected from domestic violence, and the Circuit Court erred in dismissing the charge. This result may be an unintended consequence of the statutory language. However, the plain language of the Statute cannot be contravened. Scholtec at 560, 490, SE2d at 607 “Despite this possibility of frustrating legislative intent however, we are confined to the statutory language”. If it is a desirable public policy to limit the class to those physically residing in the household, that public policy must emanate from the Legislature. State v. Leopard, 349 SC 467, 563 SE2d 342 (Ct. App.) 2002

By reason of constitutional distribution of powers to three branches of government, Courts have no legislative powers.

“Courts have no legislative powers, and in the interpretation and construction of statutes, their sole function is to determine, and within the constitutional limits of the legislative power, to give effect to the intention of the Legislature. They cannot read into a statute something that is not within the manifest intention of the Legislature as gathered

from the Statute itself...” Laird v. Nationwide Insurance. 243 S.C. 388, 134 SE2d 206, 209 (1964).

“...There is a marked distinction between liberal construction of statutes, by which courts, from the language used in the subject matter and the purposes of those framing them, find out their true meaning, and the act of a court in grafting upon a law something that has been omitted, which the court believes ought to have been embraced. The former is a legitimate and recognized role of construction, while the latter is judicial legislation, forbidden by the constitutional provision distributing the powers of government among three departments, the legislative, the executive and the judicial”. Creech v. S.C. Public Service Authority, 200 S.C. 127, 20 SE2d 645 (1942)

The Court of Appeals found that Rizon was entitled to a mechanic’s lien under Section 29-5-20. Section 29-5-20 provides that every laborer, mechanic, subcontractor or person furnishing material for the improvement of real estate has a lien on the real property so improved. The purpose of this provision is to protect a person who provides labor or material for the improvement of real property. To be entitled to a lien, the lien claimant must bring himself within the coverage of the language of the Statute. Clo-Car Trucking, Inc. v. Cliffure Estates of South Carolina, Inc., 282 S.C. 573, 320 SE2d 51 (Ct. App., 1984)

The opinion of the Court of Appeals significantly expands coverage of the Mechanic’s Lien Statute. The Court found “the legislative intent that a person who performs a component of the work involved in development and construction of projects should be considered a “laborer” that performs work for the improvement of real estate”.(Op. p. 5)

The Statute requires a lien claimant to show that he furnished labor or material for the improvement of real estate. The Court of Appeals concluded that a person should be deemed to be a laborer that performed work for the improvement of real estate if they

“performed a component of the work involved in development and construction projects”. Petitioner submits that this standard is much broader than the statutory language. If the coverage of the Mechanic’s Lien Statute is to be expanded, it should be accomplished by the Legislature, not by the Court of Appeals.

If the Legislature had intended for contractors who provide crushing service and nothing more, to a construction project, the Legislature could have done so. Having failed to include crushing services, it is not permissible for courts to expand the meaning of the terms of the statute. State v Green, 350 S.C. 580, 567 SE2d 505 (Ct. App) 2002 (See Laird v. Nationwide Insurance, 243 S.C. 388, 134 SE2d 206 1964 “...If such damages had been in contemplation of the Legislature, it could have easily provided therefor in said statutes...We cannot read into the Uninsured Motorist Statutes provisions which are not required thereby. If the statutes in question fail to accomplish the legislative purpose, the remedy lies with the Legislature and not with the courts”).

**Question 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that Rizon is entitled to a mechanic’s lien as a”person who performs a component of the work involved in the development and construction project?”**

The Court of Appeals found that Rizon was entitled to a mechanic’s lien based on the following factual findings:

Celriver hired Rizon to accomplish two tasks: (1) rid the property of demolition debris so construction could continue and (2) convert concrete blocks into fragments that could be used in paving the roadways in the property. Rizon rented equipment and provided all the labor, fuel and supervision necessary to remove scrap concrete from the property – a component of the work necessary for the development project to continue – by crushing it into a material that went directly back into the project...”  
Court of Appeals, Op. p. 4

The only evidence in this record establishes that Rizon was not hired and, in fact, did not “rid the property of the demolition debris”. Rizon did not remove scrap concrete

from the property. The factual basis upon which the Court of Appeals relied in concluding that Rizon was entitled to a mechanic's lien is simply incorrect.

The sole task for which Rizon was hired was to crush scrap concrete. (R. p. 31) Rizon did not deliver the scrap concrete to the crushing site. (R. p. 191) Rizon did not remove the crushed concrete from the crushing site. (R. p. 191) It is undisputed in this record that when Rizon completed its task of crushing concrete, the property had not been improved to any degree. Not until Celriver removed the crushed concrete from the crushing site and delivered the crushed concrete to the building site, was the property improved. The property was improved by Celriver's delivery of the crushed concrete to the building site, not Rizon.

Again, Rizon's sole task was to crush concrete. Rizon's brief does not argue that Rizon's scope of work involved anything more than crushing concrete.

As the dissent in the Court of Appeals stated, there is nothing in this record to support the Court's finding that Rizon had any responsibility for removing demolition debris from the project "so the work could continue." In fact, this statement is contrary to the undisputed record.

The scope of work in Rizon's contract clearly states that Rizon's only task was to crush scrap concrete:

The work to be performed by the Subcontractor [Rizon] includes mobilization of all labor, equipment, materials and other items required to crush and screen 30,000 tons of concrete stockpiled on the property. The concrete material is to be crushed and screened, as required to meet the South Carolina Department of Transportation specifications for Graded Aggregate Base. (R. p. 31)

No other work is required. Rizon does not argue that any additional work was required or performed by Rizon. There is simply no factual support in this record for the

Court of Appeals statement that Rizon was hired to “rid the property of the demolition debris so construction could continue”.

Since the Seminal case of Lowndes Hill Realty Co. v. Greenville Concrete Co. 2299.1.619, 93 SE2d 855 (1956), the courts have recognized a two-fold purpose of what is now S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-20 (1976):

“The manifest two-fold purpose of Sections 45-252 and 45-254 is:

(1) The protection of one, not a party to a contract with the owner, who furnishes labor or material in the improvement of the owner’s property by giving him a lien for such labor or material and (2) the protection of the property owner limiting his liability and that of his property in respect of all such liens to the amount due by the owner on the contract price.... Id., p. 860”.

As Lowndes Hill recognized, the Statute requires a subcontractor to provide labor or materials for the improvement of real property. Rizon did not provide labor or materials to the project. Rizon provided labor to prepare materials for Celriver to provide the materials to the project.

Here, it is undisputed that Rizon did not provide material for the improvement of the owner’s property. The concrete belonged to Celriver before it was crushed and it belong to Celriver after it was crushed.

Rizon did provide labor for the benefit of Celriver. If Rizon is owed money for this labor, Rizon has a contract claim against Celriver. However, Rizon’s labor did nothing to improve the owner’s property.

The property was not worth more or in any other way improved after the concrete was crushed than it was before the concrete was crushed. If Celriver had elected to use the crushed concrete elsewhere, as it was entitled to do, Rizon would not be making this

claim. The act of making material suitable for use on a project is not the same thing as providing the materials.

This Court has consistently held that the right to a mechanic's lien is purely statutory and that the requirements of the statute must be strictly followed.

"A mechanic's lien exists only by virtue of statute, therefore one's right to a mechanic's lien is wholly dependent upon the language of the statute creating it." Clo-Car Trucking, Inc. v. Cliffure Estates of South Carolina, Inc., 282 S.C. 573, 320 SE2d 51 (Ct. App., 1984)

Here, there is no specific reference to crushing services in the Mechanic's Lien Statute. The language of § 29-5-20 is not broad enough to cover a subcontractor who only provided crushing services. The Petitioner submits that the expansion of the Statute by the Court of Appeals was improper.

### **Conclusion**

Appellate Rule 242 states that the general character of reasons to be considered by this Court in granting a Writ of Certiorari include: