THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas
Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000293

The Greens of Rock Hill, LLC and GRH 2011, LLC, Petitioners.

v.

Rizon Commercial Contracting, Inc., Road Machinery and Supplies Co., Defendants,

of whom Rizon Commercial Contracting, Inc. is the Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Daniel D. D'Agostino
D'Agostino Law Firm
25 W. Liberty St.
York, South Carolina 29745
(803) 628-6509
Attorney for Respondent

Herbert W. Hamilton
Hamilton, Marents, Ballou & Carroll
P.O. Box 10940
Rock Hill, SC 29731

Questions Presented

1. The trial court did not judicially expand the scope of the Mechanics Lien Statute.
2. The Court of Appeals applied to law to the facts and properly found that Rizon is entitled to a Mechanics Lien as it is a laborer as defined in the statute.
3. Did the court of appeals properly reverse the trial court and its decision to reverse could be sustained on alternate grounds?

Statement of the Case

The petitioners, Greens of Rock Hill, LLC and GRH 2011, LLC, owned and developed a mixed use real estate development in Rock Hill, South Carolina at the location of a former large chemical plant which required the demolition and disposal of the remnants of the chemical plant and buildings. (Appendix, p. 241)

The owner hired Celriver services, Inc., as a contractor and Celriver hired Rizon Contracting, Inc. to crush and demolish the concrete to certain specifications so it could be used as an additive to the road base in the development and other projects as Celriver would direct. (Appendix p. 242) The contract referenced in the lawsuit defined Rizon's scope of work to include providing mobilization of equipment, personnel and materials to separate, crush, screen concrete in accordance with the South Carolina Department of transportation standard specifications for highway construction, graded aggregate base as set forth in an attachment. (Appendix p. 81) The contract also required Rizon to be responsible for providing supervision, equipment, labor and materials and other items required to size, reduce, sort, control fugitive dust, crush, screen and stack concrete materials to meet Celriver's specifications which was for use on the development project.

(Appendix p. 81) The contract also provided for demobilization including the cleanup and removal of all contractor equipment and materials from the site.

The demolished chemical plant, which included all of the concrete from the demolished buildings, was stockpiled on-site by Celriver and Rizon crushed the material and concrete for the purpose of reuse by Celriver on the development. (Appendix p. 243) A dispute did arise regarding payment for services Rizon provided in the crushing of the debris. Rizon file a mechanics lien on the development which included the various areas where the demolition occurred as well as where the crushed aggregate was used, all such locations being the location of the land which included the demolished chemical plant site. (Appendix pp. 237-242)

The petitioners filed a motion to vacate and dismiss the mechanics lane. (Appendix pp. 66-88) Rizon filed an answer and counterclaim to foreclose on the mechanics lien. (Appendix pp 89-122) The motion originally came before the master iniquity on June 21, 2012. Rizon objected to the process and procedure of the court, asserting that it had begun foreclosure proceedings. Rizon also objected to the fact that the court would be considering the issue of vacating the mechanics lane without any evidence in the form of affidavits or testimony. The court determined the proper process was to treat the petition as a motion for summary judgment and continued the hearing, advising the parties to submit affidavits. The court denied Rizon's request to conduct discovery. (Appendix pp. 183-197) The court held a hearing on August 16, 2012 and issued an order on September 7, 2012, filed September 12, 2012, dismissing the mechanics lane and releasing the lis pendens.

The court, in doing so, released the bond as the plaintiffs had bonded the lien off the land. (Appendix pp. 50 – 52) Rizon filed a notice of motion and motion to alter or amend, requested the trial court to reverse the dismissal arguing that discovery had not occurred and referenced various statutory code provisions in support of the fact that Rizon was covered under the mechanics lien, South Carolina code section 29 – 5–20. (Appendix pp. 57-64) The court held a hearing on the motion and issued a decision denying the motion to alter or amend on November 2, 2012. (Appendix p. 55) The appeal followed and on December 3, 2014, the court of appeals reversed the trial court’s dismissal of Rizon’s mechanics lien in a 2 to 1 decision. (Appendix pp. 266-272)

Argument

1. **The trial court did not judicially expand the scope of the Mechanics Lien Statute.**

The Court of Appeals did not expand the coverage and scope of the mechanics lien statute. The court of appeals found as follows “We hold the circuit court erred by vacating the liens. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Rizon, we find Rizon was a “laborer” that performed work “for the improvement of real estate,” which entitles it to a mechanics lien under subsection 29-5-20(A).” The court of Appeals specifically relied upon the statutory language in S.C. Code Section 29 – 5–20 as well as considered the language which defined laborer in the recently enacted S.C. Code Section 29 – 5–27. Interestingly, the petitioner refers to the fact that the mechanics lien statutes have been amended many times to expand the services for which a mechanics lien can be filed. The petitioner referred to the amendment for surveyors and for the rental value of equipment. The petitioner did

not refer to the 2003 addition to the statutory scheme which added 29 - 5-27 which defined laborer and person.

The petitioner mischaracterizes the court of appeals analysis in concluding that Rizon was entitled to a lien as a laborer. The trial court decided the issue pursuant to the summary judgment standard because the petitioner made a motion to dismiss this action and filed affidavits in support of the motion. All inferences had to be viewed in like most favorable to Rizon. The following is the full context of the Court of Appeals analysis as it relates to a determination that Rizon is entitled to a mechanics lien:

The legislature has expanded the scope of the mechanics lien statute to cover persons performing a component of the labor necessary to complete construction and development projects, even though "the labor performed [did not] go into something which has attached to and become a part of the real estate." **George A.Z. Johnson, Jr., Inc. v. Barnhill**, 279 S.C. 242, 245, 306 S.E.2d 216, 218 (1983). For example, a person "who provides a landscape service," which includes "land clearing, grading, weeding, plant removal, natural obstruction removal, or other preparation of land," is entitled to a mechanics lien under section 29 - 5-20. S.C Code Ann. Section 29-5-26 (Supp. 2013). Additionally, South Carolina code section 29 - 5-27 (2007) states, "Any person providing construction and demolition debris disposal services,... Including, but not limited to, final disposal services... is a laborer within the meaning of section 29 - 5-20"

We need not determine whether Rizon's work is covered by the specific statute because we find it is entitled to a lien under section 29 - 5-20. Nevertheless, we find the sections of the mechanics lien statute helpful in our analysis. They demonstrate the legislative intent that a person who performs a component of the work involved in the development and construction projects should be considered a "laborer" that performed work "for the improvement of the real estate." South Carolina Code Section 29 - 5-20(A).

The mechanics lien statute provides as follows:

Every laborer, mechanic, subcontractor, or person furnishing material for the improvement of real estate when the improvement has been authorized by the owner has a lien thereon, subject to existing liens of which he has actual or constructive notice, to the value of the labor or the materials so furnished, including the costs of action...

Each word in the statute has a meaning and the legislature included each word for a reason. As the court set forth in **Ferguson Fire Protection, LLC, et al v. Preferred Fire Protection, LLC and Immedion, LLC v. Rescon Construction, LLC** 409 S.C. 331, 343-344, 762 S.E.2d 561, 567-568 (2014):

If a statute is ambiguous, the courts must construe its terms. **Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc.** 406 S.C. 124, 750 S.E. 2d 61 (2013) A statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers." **Id.** at 128, 750 S.E.2d at 63 (citation omitted). However, [w]here the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." **Hodges v. Rainey.** 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." **Id.** (quoting Norman J. Singer, **Sutherland Statutory Construction** § 46.03, at 94 (5th ed.1992)). "We are not at liberty, under the guise of construction, to alter the plain language of [a] statute by adding words which the Legislature saw fit not to include." **Shelley Constr. Co. v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc.** 287 S.C. 24, 28, 336 S.E.2d 488, 491 "Our duty is to apply the statute according to its own terms." **Id.** at 29, 336 S.E.2d at 491

In this instance, the word "laborer" must be read and receive a practical, reasonable and fair interpretation with the entire statutory scheme. The legislature also provided a definition of "laborer" in context of the statutory scheme in S.C. Code Section 29-5-27 as set forth below. The common definition of "laborer" is "The

word ordinarily denotes one who subsists by physical labor. One who, as a means of livelihood, performs work and labor for another.” **Blacks Law Dictionary**, 5th Edition, page 786. Rizon clearly provided labor and material for the improvement of the real estate. The contract required Rizon to use equipment, labor and materials for performing the work. The removal of an old, abandoned chemical plant certainly improves property as does reusing the materials in the roads, sidewalks, etc.

The Court of Appeals, in explaining the analysis, also referred to the specific statute that expands the definition of laborer and person as those terms are used in 29-5-20. The legislature used the term “laborer” in South Carolina Code section 29 – 5–20 and recently enacted S.C. Code Section 29-5-27 which further defines laborer to include a person providing construction and demolition debris disposal services as defined in South Carolina code section 44–96-40(6), including but not limited to final disposal services provided by construction and demolition landfill. The statutory definition of “construction and demolition debris” is:

“discarded solid wastes resulting from construction, remodeling, repair and demolition of structures, road building and land clearing. The wastes include, but are not limited to, bricks, concrete and other masonry materials, soil, rock, lumbar, road spoils, paving material, and trees and brush stumps, but does not include solid waste from agricultural or silver cultural operations.” S.C. Code Section 44-96-40(6).

The term disposal is defined as “the sale, pledge, giving away, use, consumption or any other dispossession of a thing. To exercise control over, to direct or sign for a used, to pass over into the control of someone else, to alienate, bestow or part with.”

Blacks Law Dictionary, 5th Edition, p. 423.

Therefore, putting all this together, it is not the Court of Appeals expanding and/or legislating but it was the Court of Appeals acting in a judicial manner interpreting the statutory scheme. The statutory scheme is clear that a laborer includes individuals who provide services for the removal and/or disposal of buildings and other items on property which is to be developed as well as, in this case, to be used in the roads and development.

As further analysis, South Carolina Code section 29-5-27 provides for a laborer to also include the final disposal services provided by a construction and demolition landfill. A landfill that receives the construction and demolition debris is not providing an item on the property developed but providing a benefit for the property being developed. Landfill is defined in S.C. Code Section 44-96-40(22) as a disposal facility or part of a facility where solid waste is placed in or on land, and which is not a land treatment facility, a surface impoundment or an injection well. The legislature extended the coverage of the mechanics lien to protect the landfill. Therefore, if the landfill has a lien upon the project, the middleman grinding and crushing the material for either use on the property itself or for disposition elsewhere has a lien upon the project. The fact Celriver chose to crush the concrete block before removing it or reusing it does change the fact that Rizon was in the stream of those involved in the removal of the construction debris. Rizon was hired to perform a service involved in the process of construction and demolition debris disposal.

The Court of Appeals did not err in determining that a contractor who provides crushing services for a project is covered under the mechanics lien.

2. **The Court of Appeals applied to law to the facts and properly found that Rizon is entitled to a Mechanics Lien as it is a laborer as defined in the statute.**

The petitioner misconstrues the analysis set forth in the appellate court's decision. The Court of Appeals found that Rizon was hired to complete two tasks, mainly ridding the property of demolition debris so construction could continue and to convert concrete blocks into fragments that could be used in the paving of roadways on the property. The trial court decided the issue of whether Rizon was entitled to a lien under the statute using the summary judgment standard, taking all evidence and inferences therefrom most favorable to Rizon. The evidence in the record demonstrated that Rizon rented equipment and provided all the labor, fuel and supervision necessary to remove scrap concrete from the property - a component of the work necessary for the development project to continue, by crushing it into a material that went directly back into the project. Celriver made the decision to hire Rizon as part of the demolition process of the old chemical plant.

The court of appeals found as a fact that Rizon was a laborer under section 29-5-20 because the work it performed was necessary to the development of the project and generated a product that was used to improve the property. Contrary to the petitioner's assertion, it is not necessary for Rizon to prove that it neither delivered the scrap concrete to the crushing site nor removed the crushed concrete from the crushing site. The statutory scheme covers Rizon's contractual duties.

The definition of labor and person as set forth in 29-5-27 includes any person providing disposal services as defined and 44-96-40(6) which actually included the final disposal services provided by a construction demolition landfill.

As set forth above, clearly if a landfill which receives the construction and demolition has a lien upon the property, the entity which is hired for part of the process of the removal of the waste has a lien for its work.

The mechanics lien statute provides that the laborer has a lien for the value of the labor or material so furnished. To interpret the statute as petitioner requests, not granting a person who converts the demolished building into smaller pieces before transportation to the land fill a lien but yet give the land fill a lien is inconsistent and illogical as well as contrary to the plain language of the statute.

Petitioner also argues that Rizon did not provide material for the improvement of the owner's property. The petitioner argues that the concrete belonged to Celriver before it was crushed and it belonged to Celriver after it was crushed. Petitioner ignores the fact that the concrete and debris was the remnants of the chemical plant which was torn down so that the development the owner was creating could be constructed. It is undisputed that the crushed material from the chemical plant was then reused in the owner's project on its roads, parking lots, subgrade and in other areas, thus progressing the development of the property. Without Rizon's labor, the concrete remnants could not be used. The property was improved with the removal of an old chemical plant and the construction of roads, sidewalks, etc.; however, the value of the property is not the issue. The mechanics lien statute protects the value of the labor and material not the increased value of the land. The increased value of the land would be relevant to a quantum meruit cause of action not the mechanics lien cause of action.

Petitioner is incorrect in its assertion that if Celriver had elected to use the

crushed concrete elsewhere Rizon would not be making this claim. The transformation of the rock to a smaller aggregate ended up being in the process of the demolition and removal of the chemical plant. Celriver chose to hire Rizon in the process of the removal of the debris, the obligation Celriver had to get this material offsite so the project could proceed. Rizon became one of the intermediaries in the process of developing this land. If Celriver had hired a trucking company to just truck this material offsite before crushing it, the trucking company would be entitled to a lien as would the landfill. Celriver chose to change the form of this material and reuse it and as such, Rizon was involved in the process and entitled to a lien.

Although there is not a specific reference to the word “crushing services” in the mechanics lien statute, the statute itself covers the services Rizon provided and are included in the types of services expected in land development to be included under the protection of South Carolina Code Sections 29 – 5-20 and 29 – 5-27.

3. **Did the court of appeals properly reverse the trial court and its decision to reverse could be sustained on alternate grounds?**

Even if the court were to find that the court of appeals should not have concluded as a matter of law Rizon falls within the statutory scheme of the mechanics lien statute, the Court of Appeals was correct in reversing the trial court because no discovery has been completed and, viewing the evidence in light most favorable to Rizon, there are questions of fact. The work Rizon performed, how it performed that work and why it performed was not developed through discovery. The Court of Appeals referred several times to the fact that taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellant, Rizon, it had to find Rizon was a laborer.

Therefore, an alternate sustaining ground for the Court of Appeal's decision yet modifying the decision would be for this court to affirm as modified, sending the case back to the trial court for discovery and a trial.